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	Good morning and welcome to the IACP Module 6 – Contract Administration. Everyone here should have already attended the first five modules of this series -- Acquisition Planning; RFP Development; RFP Process Administration; RFP Evaluation; Selection and Award.

Anyone here who hasn’t taken those classes?
If any student raises their hand, you will need to check how they got enrolled in this class.

Introduce yourself – name and background.

Now let’s go through a few administrative items:

· Emergency phone number: (should be on white bd)
· Emergency Exit Procedure Information

· Restroom and cafeteria locations

· Lunch and break info

· Fill out a “Make-Up Registration Form” if you are making up this class

· Complete a Registration Form if your name isn’t on the sign-in sheet

QUESTION: By a show of phones ( ( ), who has a cell phone? OK, now. Please turn them OFF for the duration of the class. Can we all agree on no texting and no calls during class time? Good!

Now let’s find out a little about everyone else in the class. Starting over here (choose a person to begin with), please give us your name, and – because we have so much material to get through today – in 25 words or less, tell us what State department you work in, and a little about your procurement and contracting experience.
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	Here is the class website address: 
http://www.dgs.ca.gov/pd/Programs/CalPCA/Info/IACP6.aspx
Everyone should have a class Workbook.  It includes slides, notes pages, handouts, and numbered exercises.  Feel free to keep your own notes on all of the materials. They are yours to keep.

(click)

As questions arise, if we can’t answer them during the class, we’ll “park” them on to the board right over here, (have an easel set up off to the side and point to it) where they’ll stay until we check them off one-by-one as they are answered. Work for you?

QUESTION: Any questions before we begin?

OK then, let’s get started! (
NEXT SLIDE
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	Sadly, one of the biggest problems with successfully administering major IT contracts is that State agencies often allocate more time to the solicitation and award phase of contracting than they do to the administration phase of the contract. This often leads to problems with contractor performance, cost and schedule overruns, and ultimately, delays in providing benefits or services.

In our research we found a statement from the Virginia Information Technologies Agency that is pertinent to this topic and this class: 

(click)

“A successful contract is equally dependent on post-award administration as it is on a well-written statement of work or rigid performance standards.”

(click)

In this Module, we will provide students with tools and knowledge to successfully administer an IT contract awarded after the conduct of a competitive solicitation process.
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	At this point, you have successfully conducted a competitive IT RFP solicitation process. Both parties (the State and the contractor) have signed the contract and are ready to begin.

Well, almost!

In this module, we’re going to suggest a method that will assist you in identifying the roles and responsibilities of all the stakeholders in the contract. We’ll also spend a fair amount of time making sure you understand the myriad of responsibilities that come with contract management.

You’ll learn about how to plan ahead for certain risks, and how to develop a risk management plan.

We will spend some time discussing changes to make sure you understand the ramifications of them and how to manage changes to the contract. We’ll make sure you know and understand how to manage disputes and remedies available to the State in the contract when the State and the contractor don’t agree.

And finally, we’ll close with a discussion on closing out the contract and a short quiz on Modules 4, 5, and 6. Won’t that be fun?!
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	This is the class schedule shown in a graphic format. We’ll tackle each of these topics, and as a segue between topics, we’ll use this graphic. So every time you see it, you’ll know we’re ready to move on to the next topic.

NEXT SLIDE 
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	Before we get started on Contract Administration, let’s quickly review material from the previous modules that may be useful during contract administration. 

In the Basic Acquisition Certificate Program (BACP), we learned about the importance of a good Statement of Work, and also the role Ethics plays in procurement activities. 

The Intermediate Acquisition Certificate Program (IACP) focused mostly on the RFP processes; however we did learn some useful information that will help us in administering the contract. Beginning in IACP Module 1 (Acquisition Planning) we learned some useful information about contract elements and components. 

And in IACP Module 2 (RFP Development), we learned about writing effective requirements – requirements that we will be expected to assure have been met by the contractor before final payment is made.
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	In IACP Modules 3 (RFP Process) and 4 (RFP Evaluation), we learned about procurement integrity, and how to determine a bidder is responsible before we award it the contract. 

QUESTION: Who can define “responsible bidder”?

Answer: Field all responses, then click
In a nutshell, it all boils down to whether or not the bidder is capable of performing the contract successfully. 

Finally, in IACP Module 5 (Selection and Award), we learned the steps to go through to award the contract and prepare for contract management activities

QUESTION: Who would like to volunteer what you think were the most valuable lessons learned from Module 5?

QUESTION: Any lingering questions about any of the previous 5 modules before we move on?
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	Moving right along……

Having quickly reviewed the classes you’ve already completed, we’re ready to begin Module 6 Contract Administration – Roles and Responsibilities.

So, who’s ready now for the test on what you learned in the Basic Acquisition Certificate Program? (rhetorical question)

Ha-ha, just kidding! No test on the BACP during this module. BUT, at the end tomorrow, we will have a short quiz to test your retained knowledge on IACP Modules 4 through 6. So...listen up and take good notes! ( 
NEXT SLIDE
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	OK, so the procurement people have thrown the contract over the fence to you; now what?

In this segment of the class, we want to first delineate the functions of both the Contract Administrator and Project Manager (PM). What are the primary roles they serve during the contract period?

In order to determine their specific roles and responsibilities, we’ll take a stab at analyzing a statement of work (SOW).

One of the most important roles of the contract administrator is to hold orientations at project launch. These meetings can sometimes set the tone for the entire project, so they are crucial. We’ll talk a little bit about who should be invited to these meetings, and what should be covered.

Finally, we’ll close with a short exercise using a RACI matrix.

NEXT SLIDE


	Module 6 -- Contract Administration

1. Roles and Responsibilities

Contract Administrator 



	Slide 10
	?
	From Merriam-Webster, the definition of the word “administer” is:  “to manage or supervise the execution, use, or conduct of”. Within the context of an IT contract, the Contract Administrator is the “owner” of the contract and manages the various contractual activities that occur during the contract period, and ensures both parties meet their contractual obligations. Post-award contract administration is the process of ensuring that each party’s performance meets the contractual requirements.

Everybody is familiar with the California Technology Agency, right? (rhetorical question) 

The Technology Agency (we’ll refer to them as TA) was first established in 2007 (under a different name), and has statutory authority over the State’s IT strategic vision and planning, enterprise architecture, policy, and project approval and oversight. Under that authority, the California Project Management Methodology Reference Manual, known as the CA-PMM. Within the CA-PMM, the Contract Manager (Administrator) is noted as the individual that:

· Manages and track contracts

· Negotiates amendments

· Reviews work authorizations and invoices

· Ensures that all contractual terms are adhered to and all deliverables are received

Everyone please hold up your left hand with the palm facing me. 

There are many other responsibilities not addressed in the 

CA-PMM, and we’ll be talking about those in this Module. It should go without saying, but I’ll say it anyway. Because of the myriad of responsibilities, it is crucial that the contract administrator (click) know and understand the contract like ... what? Answer: ... (click)...the back of their hand...
 NEXT SLIDE
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	On the other hand (no pun intended!), the PM is responsible for managing the outcomes and outputs of the contractor to ensure the contract is properly executed.

Again, from the TA’s CA-PMM, the PM:

· Plans the project, and ensures the deliverables and functionality are achieved 

· Plans, guides, and oversees the PM office day-to-day activities 

· Is accountable for the development, maintenance, and adherence to the project management office infrastructure and supporting methodologies (e.g. process, procedures, standards, and templates) that are in compliance with best practices and policies

Additionally, the PM is responsible for managing the actions of the State that will ensure the contractor performs – actions such as testing and accepting deliverables, and approving invoices for payment.

NEXT SLIDE 
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	So what constitutes contract outcomes and outputs?

Let’s say you want to achieve certain savings from the new system after implementation of a specific segment of work. That would be considered an “outcome”, a result that is often a time-related quantity or percentage goal, and difficult to assess.

Outcomes are often difficult to assess, because they tend to be something you can’t put your arms around. Something like savings. Do you measure the savings against what you thought the cost might be, or do you have proof what the cost would have been for sure that you can measure against? 

On the other hand, let’s say the contract calls for a computer system with 200 workstations to be delivered, and installed by a date certain. That is an “output”, or a deliverable, something you can put your arms around, and something much easier to measure.

NEXT SLIDE
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	A “partner” is one that shares or is associated with another in some specific action or endeavor.

With respect to State IT contracts, the Contract Administrator and the PM are both responsible for ensuring contract performance. And together, they need to forge a partnership to work in tandem, cooperatively and collaboratively towards achieving their common goal of a successful contract.

Some federal agencies have even developed joint partnership agreements that are signed during the pre-award phase, and that define how the parties will work together. This idea goes a long way towards fostering a successful partnership relationship.
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	The successful completion of the contract means a lot of hard work between the date the contract is signed, and the date the State sends the contract file to the archive. 

Remember a few slides ago, when I said that one of the biggest problems with successfully administering major IT contracts is that State agencies often allocate more time to the solicitation and award phase of contracting than they do to the administration phase of the contract? (rhetorical question)
Well, its time to pay the piper! Now that you’ve got the contract (remember when those procurement people threw it over the fence to you?), you’re going to need to allocate the time to manage it. One of the most effective ways to do that is to fully understand the Statement of Work (SOW) – the heart of your contract – like...? (pause and let the class fill in the next few words.) ... 

the back of your hand.

As a reminder, your SOW should include:

· A detailed statement of the purpose, objective or goals 

· An identification of all significant work to be performed by the contractor and delivered to the State

· An estimated time schedule for the provision of these services 

· Completion and acceptance criteria 

· An identification of all significant goods or services to be provided by the State to the contractor 

So we’re going to take a few minutes to analyze an example SOW to identify more specifically the roles and responsibilities of all parties to the contract.
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	In IACP Module 5 (Selection and Award), we used the RACI Matrix format to examine the contract language and determine who was responsible for what. Now we can use that same methodology to examine an example SOW, and determine the various roles and responsibilities.

Tips to remember about roles and responsibilities when you are using this process: 

(click)
· Some are stated; others are implied

· Some are shared

· Some are time-stamped (the requirement to do a specific activity occurs only after another activity has been completed)

· Some require written notice or response

· Some require acceptance

· Some are conditional (...if this, then that...)

· Some are multi-layered (a single sentence might include numerous tasks)

NEXT SLIDE 
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Tell them not to just go to the paragraph entitled “State Responsibilities”. There are state responsibilities throughout the contract.

Rather than making a long list of tasks and then beginning the identification of roles and responsibilities, identify the roles and respon-sibilities for each task before moving to the next.

	
	Well, now we’re going to use an actual Statement of Work to identify and analyze the various roles and responsibilities, and document them in the form of a RACI matrix.

Before we begin the exercise, let’s first break up into teams of 5 or 6. Break class up into teams and if appropriate, designate places in the classroom where you want the teams to congregate. Use different teams than used in IACP5. Make people get up and move around.
Now, please go to the Tab entitled “Exercise 1”, where the following 3 things will be located: Exercise 1 instructions, a hardcopy of the SOW we’ll be using, and a hardcopy RACI matrix.

Examine the contract and identify activities that must be completed by one or more parties, focusing on State responsibilities, keeping in mind the tips we just reviewed. Also identify the individual or group that is Responsible, Accountable, Consulted, and/or provided Information.

You’ll have 30 minutes to identify the various roles, record them in the RACI matrix on your PC, choose a spokesperson for your team, and prepare to discuss with the class at the conclusion of the exercise.

(after the exercise is complete, pick a team to begin) OK, please share with the class the first 1 activity you identified, and what the various roles and responsibilities are. Then ask other groups to share their one of their activities. Repeat until done.
NEXT SLIDE 
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	Before we move on and talk about orientations, I thought I’d throw this Dilbert comic strip in here. You may want to keep this cartoon in mind as you hold the orientation with the contractor...

(click on the slide, but stay on this page in the Instructor Notes so you can finish with the rest of what is on this page. After you are done with the comic, click again and you’ll be on the next slide in sequence.)

QUESTION: Who wants to read aloud to the class?

So now we know how the contractors feel! Yikes! But what can we do about it? (rhetorical question)
We can bring them into the fold at contract inception, launching our new partnership focused on successful contract completion.

(click)
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	So let’s talk now about orientations. One of the first tasks of the Contract Administrator is to hold orientation meetings. To begin the project in a collaborative framework, meet first with the PM and key State stakeholders. After that meeting, call together the Contractor’s key personnel, and include the PM and key State personnel for the contract launch orientation. Since the same topics will be discussed in both meetings, we will combine and summarize them here.

In each meeting, reinforce the importance of partnering, and how it can lead to a successful business relationship that will enhance the likelihood of a successful contract and project.

Because you’ll know and understand the contract like...? (wait for the class to answer) ...(the back of your hand)... you can discuss the key contractual terms and conditions, and roles and responsibilities of the parties so that all parties have a clear and mutual understanding of the contract requirements.

Be sure to establish communications protocols. If those are already set forth in a project Communications Plan (more on this later), then discuss the protocols in that Plan (make sure to provide input to the PM to that important document when it is established). 

Discuss the delivery schedule and key milestones, making sure everyone is on the same page.
NEXT SLIDE
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	In the context of the schedule and key milestones, discuss deliverable acceptance criteria and procedures.

One of the most important aspects of contract administration is the payment process. Be sure to discuss:

· Who the contractor should send invoices to

· How much detail the contractor should include on the invoices

· Any specific formatting requirements 

· How the invoices will be validated against deliverables

· How the payment approval process works

Talk about it now – before the work begins – so that everyone understands the importance of timely, accurate, and verifiable invoices and attachments.

Changes and conflict will both arise during the contract period. Discuss the procedures that have been established to address each of these major issues when they occur (hint: both of these topics present an opportunity to “mitigate risk” – more on that later!).

Finally, discuss any pertinent reporting requirements and protocols that all parties need to be aware of.

Behind Tab A in the workbooks, there is a Contract Orientation Meetings checklist that you may want to consider using. It might help you to make sure the key topics are covered.

NEXT SLIDE
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	?
	Now that we’ve covered Roles and Responsibilities, its time to move on to Contract Management activities. 

QUESTION: Any questions before we move on?

NEXT SLIDE
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	Have a volunteer read aloud the following quotation:

“Effective contract administration is critical to effective project management because an organization’s failure to fulfill its contractual obligations could have legal consequences. Thus, someone must observe performance of contractual obligations. 

That person is the contract manager, who must always be aware of the legal and financial consequences of an action or failure to act, and who must take steps to ensure required actions are taken and prohibited actions are avoided.

In a real sense, a contract manager is a project manager, and the principles of project management apply to his or her work.” 
Gregory A. Garrett 
NEXT SLIDE
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	In this segment, we’re going to talk a little about project management tools, many of which you should familiarize yourself with. Because an understanding of the project management discipline will enable you to more effective at contract administration. 

We’ll also discuss communications, and something we’ve entitled “measure, monitor, and track”. That segment will include topics such as:

· Invoices and payments

· Contractor compliance

· Schedule (milestones)

· Deliverables

· Budget

· Changes

Has anybody noticed yet, that many of the topics being covered in this segment match up with the same topics that were suggested for discussion in the orientation meetings? (rhetorical question)
Finally, we’ll discuss reporting, the importance of documentation (a key function of the contract administrator), and we’ll end this segment with an ethics refresher.
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	While we were researching some definitions to help you understand this concept, we came across Marios Alexandrou’s website (www.mariosalexandrou.com), which seemed to define the generic term “project” best. We received his permission to reprint his definition and quote him in this class. His definition for Project is....

· A unique venture with specific start and end dates, typically run by people from differing parts of an organization

· Broken down into phases, each with its own set of priorities and goals

· Constrained by cost, schedule, resources and quality

And since any research into project management should always include the Project Management Body of Knowledge (PMBOK), here is their simplified definition:

“A temporary endeavor undertaken to create a unique product or service.”

Think a contract might fit either of these definitions?

(rhetorical question)

NEXT SLIDE
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	OK then, the definition of “project” is pretty easy to understand, right? OK, so then, what is Project Management”?

Again, from Marios Alexandrou:

· It is a combination of techniques, procedures, people and systems – (click) -- and I am adding “tools” -- focused on the successful completion of a project

· A Project Management discipline supports planning, implementation, tracking and control of projects

NEXT SLIDE
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	A Project Management team usually consists of:

· The Steering Committee;

· the Project Director;

· the Project Manager (PM);

· the Communications Manager;

· the Procurement Manager;

· the Contract Manager;
(click)

· the Risk Manager; and 

· a whole host of others, a virtual “cast of thousands” that usually includes:

·  Executive Sponsor, support staff, librarian, scheduler, quality manager, technical lead, business lead; implementation manager, application support manager, test manager, configuration manager, operations manager, and customer support manager

·  Some people may wear more than one hat

NEXT SLIDE
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	In the realm of project management, Project Management Institute (aka PMI) is the recognized worldwide leader. Their PMBOK (Project Management Body of Knowledge) is the “bible” for project managers. In the PMI model,  Project Management plans include the following five specific phases, all of which are an integral part of the whole plan:

· Initiate 

· Plan/Design

· Execute/Produce

· Monitor/Control

· Complete/Close
(click)

In California, the Technology Agency has added a “Concept” phase at the beginning of the project, and the Monitoring/Controlling processes occur throughout the project. In the CA-PMM, the TA has also added Maintenance/Operations (“M/O”) to round out the full life cycle of a project.
NEXT SLIDE
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	Typical project management tools that the Project Manager uses include:

· Work Breakdown Structure (WBS) – breaks down the work to be performed into discrete tasks 

· Contract Management Plan

· Communications Management Plan

· Risk Management Plan

· Change Management Plan

· Cost and Schedule Management Plans

· And others, such as:

· Scope Change Management Plan

· Configuration Management Plan

· Human Resources Management Plan

· Quality Management Plan

· Organizational Change Management

QUESTION: Can anyone familiar with Gantt charts describe them for the class?

Answer:  A Gantt chart is a bar chart that illustrates a project schedule. It breaks down the elements of work into manageable tasks, sets the timeframes for completion, and displays relationships between tasks. It is a good example of a WBS used by many PM’s. It looks like the small graphic on this slide.

NEXT SLIDE
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	One of the typical Project Management tools is the Contract Management Plan, which – as a minimum – should address the following topics: 

· Invoicing and payment processing

· The contract amendment process

· Contractor performance management and monitoring

· Disputes management process

· Status and progress reporting process

· Contracting closing process

· File archive process

You’ll find many of these topics in the Contract Management Plan template the TA has included in the CA-PMM Toolkit. 

You’ll be happy to know that we will be addressing each of these topics in the various segments of this class.

NEXT SLIDE
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	The “lack” of communications – or poor communications -- is one of the main reasons projects fail, so a Communications Management Plan is an important part of the overall project management plan.

Make sure the PM (or Communications Manager) is aware of your office’s specific needs so they are included in the Communications Plan. That plan should include: 

1. A listing of the stakeholders – should include the Contract Administrator

2. The topics each stakeholder is interested in. A contract administrator would be interested in budget issues, the delivery schedule, deliverables, changes, disputes and other issues.

3. The information the stakeholders need. Again, a contract administrator might need status reports or deliverable acceptance reports. 

4. When the information is needed. Weekly, monthly, or as deliverables are received, tested and accepted?

5. Finally, how the information will be provided. As you can see from the slide, there are lots of formats! 

We have modified a Franchise Tax Board Communications Plan template and included it behind Tab B. There is also a template for a Communication Management Plan on the TA website – in the CA-PMM Toolkit. Feel free to plagiarize as need be to develop a Communication Plan for your next project.
NEXT SLIDE
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	In this segment of the discussion on Contract Management, let’s spend a little time talking about what I call “measuring, monitoring and tracking” the following:

· Invoices and payments

· Compliance

· Schedule (milestones)

· Deliverables

· Budget

· Changes

NEXT SLIDE
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	We have arrived at one of the most important tasks the Contract Administrator must perform – receiving invoices and processing them for payment.

QUESTION: Anyone recognize the graphic up in the top right corner? 

Answer: It’s a Russian Abacus. The use of the abacus dates back to 2700-2300 BC Mesopotamia, where it was used by the Sumerians for simple mathematical operations such as addition and subtraction. 

We show it on this slide because that’s just what invoice paying is all about, isn’t it? A simple exercise of mostly subtraction, as invoice amounts are paid to the contractor for services rendered and/or deliverables provided.

Most of you are familiar with the State’s invoicing and payment processes, right? (rhetorical question). If not, its time to get up-to-speed if you’re going to effectively manage a contract.

The major steps in this process include:  (read from the slide)

Regarding late payment penalties, all State departments report to DGS each year on the number and amount of late payment penalties paid. DGS compiles the information into a report that becomes public information. So avoid late payment penalties if at all possible.

First and perhaps foremost, remember that payment to a contractor implies work is progressing according to the contract; so be sure that the State has received and accepted what it is paying for.
NEXT SLIDE
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	You’ll likely spend a fair amount of time keeping track of the invoices received and paid, and the balance remaining in your contract. 

The Financial Transaction Tracking Log (behind Tab D) is a tool that can be used to keep track of all financial transactions against the contract. Think of it as the “check register” for your contract. 

The document was developed in EXCEL, so it is a spreadsheet, but easy-to-use instructions are included in the document. 

It begins with the contract amount as the “Beginning Balance”, and then is automatically adjusted after you enter each contract amendment to add money (think of that as a “deposit”) or after an invoice is paid or a contract transaction disencumbers money. Think of those as “withdrawals”. Like I said, it works much the same as your own personal checkbook is managed, only with this tracking log, the balance calculations are done automatically.

NEXT SLIDE
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	So, let’s take a closer look at a Financial Transaction Tracking Log. You can follow along on the slide, or pull out your copy behind Tab D in the workbook. Also, this document will be available on the class website.

The dates are self-explanatory. Enter all dates as mm/dd/yyyy. 

The “transaction number” could be your contract or amendment number, or your invoice number. 

The 3rd column “Transaction Type” has a drop-down menu and you select from 4 different types (shown on the Tab D example). Your very first entry should be the original contract – think of it as the original deposit into your “check register”.

Enter the dollar amount paid (withdrawn) or added (deposited) in the 5th column. No need to add the dollar sign – the column has already been formatted to show the entry as currency.

Be sure to enter items paid (or withdrawn) as negative numbers or within parens. 

Then the “Balance Remaining” column will fill in automatically, leaving you with a current contract balance. 

QUESTION: Any questions about the Financial Transactions Tracking Log before we move on? 
Field any questions.
NEXT SLIDE
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	?


	Now let’s talk about Compliance. What do we have to monitor for compliance besides the RFP requirements? (rhetorical question)
Well.......I can think of a few things, such as those listed on this slide. But what about others included in the IT General Provisions (GP)? (rhetorical question) Requirements that may easily be monitored, such as (read the bold ones and a few others of your choice):

· Contractor is maintaining disabled access to it’s facilities and equipment (GP para 7e) 

· Insurance is up-to-date (GP para 20)
· Contractor is supplying newly-manufactured goods (not used or reconditioned) (GP para 32)
· Covenant against gratuities (GP para 45)

· Required Nondiscrimination and DFEH reporting has been completed and it up-to-date (GP para 46)
· Contractor is maintaining a drug free workplace (GP para 49)

· Contractor is complying with 4-digit date provisions (GP para 50)

· Material supplied was manufactured in a sweat-free workplace (GP para 51)

· Contractor is certifying percentage of recycled materials being used (especially paper!) (GP para 52)

QUESTION: Can anyone think of any others we haven’t already mentioned?

Answer: How about monitoring the contractor’s financials? 
Which ones do you have an obligation to monitor? Legal counsel can help you with the answer to that question.    
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	One of the first tasks of the PM will be to cooperatively revise the Project Plan schedule with the contractor, including dates or milestones for deliverables, or tasks to be completed. Those revisions – and any subsequent schedule changes -- need to be incorporated into the contract by contract amendment.

It is interesting to note that the IT GPs used to include the phrase “time is of the essence”, legally meaning the dates set forth in the contract are vital, and therefore mandatory, and “we really mean it!” 

The general rule is that time is not of the essence unless the contract expressly so provides. When time is not of the essence, courts generally permit parties to perform their obligations within a “reasonable” time.

In 2003, the IT GPs only were modified to delete that phrase. At the time, State departments were advised that it was essential that all deliverables be identified with dates due and liquidated damages as appropriate.

Notwithstanding the absence of this important phrase in the IT GPs, the contractor is expected to complete work or specific tasks (which don’t always include actual deliverables) by certain dates set forth in the Project Plan schedule, so that is one of the things that should be very closely monitored.
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	Since one of the primary responsibilities of the Contract Administrator is to ensure each party’s performance meets contractual requirements, it is imperative to stay on top of deliverables and their acceptance.

As the deliverables are being monitored, keep a close watch on the schedule. The Independent Verification and Validation contractor (should you have one – more on that in a minute) will also be keeping a close watch on this aspect of the contract. If you see the schedule slipping, you may want to consider beginning the preliminary work on a contract amendment, the document required to reflect any such change. 

Acceptance is a legal act by which the State assumes ownership of goods or approves specific services rendered as partial or complete performance of the contract. So, as part of your responsibility to ensure contract performance – as well as the payment process – assure there are acceptance criteria for each deliverable, and also that PM has signed off accepting the deliverable. 

(Click)
Never pay for deliverables unless and until they are (click) completed and accepted. If the PM does not accept the deliverable, then a deficiency exists that must be addressed. More on that later.
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	Deliverables need to meet certain acceptance criteria; criteria that are defined by the deliverable or task owner, criteria that clearly state the characteristics and attributes of “what done looks like”; criteria that may include performance minimums and measurements. 

Let’s take a look at something called a Deliverable Acceptance Document (DAD) that was used by our mythical State department. In your workbooks, go to the contract we used in Exercise 1. The next-to-last page of that contract is a Deliverable Acceptance Document. This form is one that many State agencies use. It is something that the Project Manager (or more likely, one of his/her staff) will have created together with the contractor. Let’s just go over that now. The information at the top identifies the specific deliverable. Also – and this is very important – note the area for the acceptance criteria. Also an area for acceptance notification, and then space for the sign-offs. 

Behind that DAD, you’ll see our suggested version that adds two things:

· Check boxes to indicate whether or not the deliverable was accepted or returned for corrective action.

· A space where the State can indicate what corrective or remedial action is required to bring the deliverable in line with the acceptance criteria should it fall short. 

Once the PM signs off accepting the deliverable, generally it can be paid for. You may also have internal controls within your department that require additional signatures, but as far as the contract is concerned it is the Project Manager’s signature on a deliverable that you need for your files. Be sure to keep a copy of the signed deliverable acceptance form or document in your contract file.
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You might want to add columns for check-off date and invoice payment dates.
	?
	One of the biggest responsibilities you have as a Contract Administrator is to ensure that all of the RFP requirements have been met before signing off on that last invoice and closing the contract.

QUESTION: So how will you go about doing that? Think about it. What if you have 1000 requirements? What will you do to assure that all of them have been met by the contractor? (This may end up being a rhetorical question. Not many people want to field this question – they seem to be more interested in what we want to suggest.)
One of the methods used by many PM’s is a tool called a Requirements Traceability Matrix (RTM), get a copy for yourself and check off with dates when a requirement has been met. If your PM isn’t using an RTM, make up your own and then check off when requirements have been met. Use signed DAD’s and invoices to glean the information you need. Something to look forward to – this topic will be explored in more detail in the Requirement Development workshop.

(click)
Sometimes it can be as simple as this. 

Note the RFP Requirements listed down the left side of the table, and the Deliverables are listed across the top. Where a deliverable is supposed to satisfy a requirement, there is an X. 
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	An RTM will usually track both forward (from the requirements forward to the deliverables) and backwards (from the deliverables backwards to the requirements). 

Some departments even call for an RTM that goes as far back as the original Feasibility Study Report (FSR), then forward to the Statement of Work, to the requirements specifications, to the Design documents, to the components, and to the test cases, procedures and results. Again, forwards and backwards.

Also RTMs are often used by Independent Verification and Validation contractors to monitor the contract from beginning to end.

We’ve included copies of two different Requirements Traceability Matrices behind Tab Q so you can see some “real world” examples. One is from the Center for Disease Control and the other is from the University of Minnesota.

Ask your Project Manager for a copy of the RTM that is developed for your contract (if any), and use it to track the RFP requirements that are met by deliverables. Using an RTM or something similar is probably the best way to assure that each and every requirement in your RFP has been met.
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	I just mentioned Independent Verification and Validation or IV&V. What is it? (rhetorical question) We found a useful definition in the Bureau of State Audits (BSA) February 2011 report on the Judicial Council’s California Court Case Management System (CCMS) (years behind schedule and with 102 contract amendments (as of 02/2011) and nearly $2 billion in projected cost over-runs from a 2003 contract amount of $33 million] – IV&V is “used to ensure that software conforms to requirements and satisfies user needs”. It is also critical component of a quality management system required by the TA on many large-scale IT projects.

Verification is a quality control process that is used to evaluate whether or not a product, service, or system complies with the requirements, specifications, or conditions imposed with the signing of the contract.

Validation is the quality assurance process of establishing evidence that provides a high degree of assurance that a product, service, or system accomplishes its intended requirements. 

It is sometimes said that verification can be expressed by the query "are you building it right?”. Verification checks that the specifications are correctly implemented by the system, or in our case, if we want a pyramid, are we building it in the correct way? 

Validation can best be expressed by the query "are you building the right thing?" 

(Click)

In other words, will a pyramid actually do the job, or is a more conventional office building more appropriate?
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	?
	Verification and Validation is the job of the independent IV&V contractors. They cannot be affiliated in any way with the project contractors or subcontractors. Their independence is key to unbiased reporting. This was another BSA criticism of the Judicial Council CCMS project,  

Following IEEE standards (pursuant to TA policy), the job of an IV&V is to specifically monitor, evaluate, and analyze your project contractor’s work products. The BSA reported that the Judicial Council’s contract with their IV&V contractor did not include the requirement that IEEE standards or even best practices be followed). 
The IV&V contractor sifts through all of the information and data, and reports to the Project Manager, and sometimes other management such as a Steering Committee. They identify quality issues, schedule delays, cost over-runs, potential out-of-scope issues, and any other issues they have discovered that will affect the successful completion of the contract.

The DGS Procurement Division has established a Master Services Agreement for IT Consulting Services that includes Independent IV&V Contractors. And there are also many CMAS contractors that provide these services as well. 

QUESTION: Any questions on IV&V before we move on?
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	(the following are all rhetorical questions)

OK, another item to be monitored. Budget

How much money has been encumbered for the contract?

How is that money allocated? For instance, is the money allocated by task, by deliverable, or by fiscal year or some other way? 

How much money has been spent to-date, and how much is left in the contract? 

Will the balance remaining in the current fiscal year be enough to cover the work that will be completed by June 30th? 

And, will you know, to the penny – without first contacting your budget office – how much money is available in your contract at any given point in time during the contract?

Wouldn’t you need to know that amount in order to determine how much money needs to be added to the contract to cover a new contract amendment?
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	Whether you use the Financial Transactions Tracking Log or something similar, you may want to set up a method to track and monitor contract expenditures to ensure there are sufficient funds to pay for all services rendered as required by the contract.

If funds are being added to the contract, make sure there is an authorizing contract document. Also make sure that there is an approved Special Project Report for any new additions to the contract (required by the TA on major IT projects).

You might want to explain what a Special Project Report is.

Remember to encumber funds at the beginning of each fiscal year, and additional funds as necessary pursuant to approved contract amendments. 

And when the contract has run its course, be sure to disencumber un-used funds at the end of the contract so that they are freed up for your department to use elsewhere.
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	?
	QUESTION: Any questions about budget monitoring before we move on?

(click) 

All right then, next topic. Document, document, document. I can’t possibly say it enough times to reflect how important this task is.

In the TA’s CA-PMM Reference Manual, it is noted that the contract files are expected to be the “repository ... for all project-specific contract documentation”.

The Contract Administrator should oversee, collect, and sign all significant correspondence and other documentation related to the contract.

For anyone that looks at the contract file – and particularly auditors – it should “tell the contract story” in its entirety. 
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	?
	The contract file should be the historical record and an auditable paper trail of everything that has transpired leading up to and after the execution (signing) of the contract, and throughout the contract period until contract closeout. You may want to organize the information by tab or section. You pick the order, but your file should include (but not be limited to):

Tab – Original contract file, with latest Amendment on top. Include original requisition, Std 213 and 215, SCPRS # 

Tab – Project status reports, monthly progress reports, meeting minutes, a list of all State-furnished property or services, Tracking  and monitoring logs

Tab – All correspondence in chronological order (includes emails, faxes, letters, memos) with the latest on top

Tab – Acceptance documentation and copies of all invoices
Tab – Documentation regarding any changes, disputes, or breaches, as well as the documentation regarding any remedies exercised
Tab – The solicitation and key evaluation documents. This may be voluminous, so you may want to keep these documents separate from the rest of the file – that is why we are suggesting they be the last part of your file.
QUESTION: What else?
(note responses for possible inclusion in future classes)

You might also want to consider keeping a summary log of notes or actions. This could help you track telephone calls and significant correspondence and help to locate these items when need be. 
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	One of the biggest favors you can do for yourself is to create and maintain a “Master Copy” of the contract document. I cannot overemphasize how important this will be to you.

(click)

· An electronic version might work best
· Reflect all changes made to the contract regardless of the method by which they were incorporated into the contract

· Add new language

· Update dates when they are changed

· Reflect strike-outs/additions

Keeping a Master Copy will be especially helpful as you prepare Contract Amendments. Here’s a scenario that will help you understand just how important this is:

Imagine you have a 5-year contract for a large scale system integration project. You’ve already done 5 contract amendments and now you need to do a 6th. 

If you kept a Master Copy of the contract, you could easily discern exactly where the changes need to be made and go about the business of preparing the amendment. 

On the other hand, if you do not have a Master Copy, you’ll first need to go through the exercise of figuring out just what your contract says after all the changes that were made in the first 5 amendments are incorporated. Only after you have completed that exercise can you begin work on Amendment 6. Imagine if you had 20 amendments that were not incorporated into a Master Copy!
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?


	QUESTION: Any lingering questions about documentation before we move on?

QUESTION: Anybody want to take a stab at what our next topic is?

QUESTION: What, the shoe doesn’t help? You’re asking what in the world does a shoe have to do with any aspect of contract administration?

Answer: OK, it’s really an unfair joke to play on you. A shoe doesn’t really have much to do with contract administration – unless it’s a link to something just a little more pertinent...

(click on the shoe, but stay on this page in the Instructor Notes so you can finish with the rest of what is on this page. After you are done with the comic, click again and you’ll be on the next slide in sequence.)

For those of you that guessed Ethics – notwithstanding the fact that I know you probably went back to the first slide for this segment so you could see what the next topic in the list was -- you win the prize!!

Now, I know you’re all wondering what in the world can I tell you about Ethics that you haven’t already learned, right? (rhetorical question)
Give me your attention for just a few minutes, and I’ll enlighten you. (
NEXT SLIDE


	Module 6 -- Contract Administration

...2. Contract Management

...Ethics Refresher



	Slide 48
	
	On a more serious note, Ethics is a very important topic. So much so that we wanted to revisit it, even though it has been addressed in earlier classes. To introduce the topic, I found this quotation from the great Mark Twain, and thought you might find it interesting:

“Always do right. This will gratify some people and astonish the rest.”
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	But Oprah may have said it even better:

“Real integrity is doing the right thing, knowing that nobody's going to know whether you did it or not.” 
Isn’t that what ethics is all about? Doing the right thing, even – or especially -- in the face of sometimes overwhelming pressure to do just the opposite. 

QUESTION: What words come to mind when you try to define the word “ethics”?

Answer: The answers should include words such as honesty, integrity, trust, accountability, fairness, moral standards, principles...
Good answers! It seems like we all know the meaning of ethics, and yet each of us has a different understanding of it. That is really interesting, because what it boils down to is this – ethics is a personal choice. Because even if no-one else knows that you did the right thing (or not), you’ll know, right?
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	So ethics a simple choice between right and wrong, made on a personal level. (click) So think before you act. How will your action – or inaction – affect the project, the department, the State (hearken back to those words “in the best interests of the State”), or on you or even your family? How might it be perceived by others?

(click) Pay attention to your stomach. Trust your instincts. If something doesn’t “feel” right, then it probably isn’t. 

(click) Crash the party. Move away from the “I don’t want to get involved” mentality. If a situation just doesn’t seem right, ask questions. If you don’t get a satisfactory answer, or if the answer proves troublesome, escalate it to your supervisor, or your ethics officer, or if it’s bad enough, even the FPPC. You’re not a cop, so put it in someone else’s hands to do the investigating as appropriate.

(click) Graciously decline. Unethical behavior can adversely affect the entire organization. Gifts in particular can be problematic. As you know, the law sets annual limitations on the value of gifts that may be received by State officials from a single source. (click) Gifts – regardless of size or value -- are often seen as a form of bribery, even though they might never affect your judgment or actions. So in order to avoid even the perception of impropriety, “Just Say No” to gifts.

There is more information regarding gifts in the FPPC’s fact sheet on “Limitations and Restrictions on Gifts, Honoraria, Travel and Loans”. A copy is included in the workbooks behind Tab G.

But, caution – don’t get carried away! Before you escalate an issue regarding a potential breach of ethics by anyone other than yourself, make sure that what you suspect is true and not just your perception.
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	OK, here’s the stuff we’ve all heard before, but its worth going over ONE MORE TIME:

· Don’t contract with any company you’ve invested in

· Don’t use your position to benefit yourself or others

· Don’t use State time, facilities, equipment, or supplies for private gain or advantage

· Avoid even the appearance of impropriety. Remember perception is reality for the viewer.

· Politely refuse all gifts from any contractor your department does business with

· Finally, take the same care in protecting the contractor’s confidential information or data that you would take protecting your own confidential information data or the confidential information or data of your department

Did you notice all of these are personal choices? Again, it all boils down to this -- ethics is a personal choice.
The above are “interpretations” of language in § 19990 of the California Government Code, a copy of which is included in the Workbooks behind Tab H.
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	And of course, with ethics as with so many other things, the ultimate litmus test is......

(click on the picture)

The Sacramento BEE!

Don’t wait until you or your department ends up above the fold on Page A1 of the BEE...
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	?
	So let’s review the topics covered in this segment on Contract Management to glean from them tips for effective contract administration:

· Know the terms and conditions in the contract like ...? 

Answer: ...the back of your hand...

· Understand and communicate the roles and responsibilities

· Develop partnerships with the PM and the contractor

· Conduct orientations at contract launch

· Understand how the project will be managed

· Maintain effective communications, and be sure your office’s communications needs are included in the project communications plan
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	· Measure, monitor and track

· Manage the payment process, and tie payments to work completed/deliverables accepted

· Always remember the paper trail (documentation)
· Keep the best interests of the State and your department in mind at all time
Finally, something new –

(click)

Remember – work isn’t done at award – award is only the START.
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	?
	QUESTION: OK, any questions about Contract Management before we move on?
(field any questions)

In this next segment, we’re going to talk a little about managing risks and what that has to do with administering the contract.

NEXT SLIDE


	Module 6 -- Contract Administration

3. Risk Management


	Slide 56
	
	“It was “an entirely fair criticism” to say that the company (British Petroleum) had not been fully prepared for a deep water oil leak. CEO Tony Hayward called it “low-probability, high-impact” accident.” 

(Associated Press, as printed in the Sacramento BEE, Friday June 4, 2010)

“You can’t eliminate risk. You can do a lot to minimize it but it’s always there.”  

16-yr old Abby Sunderland after her boat’s mast was snapped in the Indian Ocean while trying to circumnavigate the globe (June 2010).

Remember these statements as we discuss the next important topic – risk management
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	In this segment, we’re going to go over some topics that will help you understand risks and how they might affect your contract. We’ll go over:

· Defining Risk

· Planning for Risk

· Identifying, Assessing, and Rating Risks

· Why would a Contract Administrator need a Risk Management Plan?

· Developing a Risk Management Plan

Finally, at the conclusion of the segment, we’ll do another brief exercise to help reinforce what we’ve learned.

With that, let’s move on.
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	?

	Everybody knows what rocket science is, right? 

(click)

But we’re talking about risk, right, not rocket science? (rhetorical question)
So focusing on risk, we found a few places where it is pretty clearly defined, Encarta and the Gartner Group (in their 07/01/03 Executive Summary: Managing the New IT Risks). Risk is simply “the chance of something going wrong,” or, put very simply, “uncertainty”. In the context of contract administration, risk is the chance that something will happen that will adversely affect successful contract completion.

QUESTION: So anybody want to guess what in the world does rocket science has to do with risk management? 

Answer: (click)

Absolutely Nothing! Clearly “risk management” is definitely not “rocket science”! Soooo, don’t be afraid of it. (
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	One of the best ways to mitigate or eliminate risk is to plan ahead for it. 

You may want to consider developing a Risk Management Plan (RMP) that does just that. 

RMP’s generally include:

· An identification of potential risks

· An assessment of those risks for impact and probability

· A plan of action to eliminate or at least mitigate the risk (what’s the plan Stan?)

· An execution phase where the plan is actually put into action

· A method to track potential risks
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	With IT projects, the TA requires that the PM develop a Risk Management Plan (RMP) to address all the potential situations that could jeopardize successful project implementation. Behind Tab I, we included a Risk Management Plan template from the Franchise Tax Board as an example of what a real project RMP might include. 

As the PM does his/her job identifying risks and developing mitigation plans, so too should the Contract Administrator identify risks to the contract and develop plans to mitigate that risk. So how do we go about doing that? (rhetorical question) We consider the following 3 things:
1. (click) What could happen? What could occur that might affect the quality of the services being performed, the amount of money the State is paying for the project, or the length of time it will take to deliver benefits or perhaps revenues?

2. (click) What is the likelihood or probability of that event occurring? Anything that is considered as “almost certain” or “very likely” to occur should be rated High. Risks that have a 50/50 chance of occurring should be rated Medium. Risks that are considered unlikely to occur should be rated Low.

3. (click) How about the impact or the consequences if that event occurs? With respect to contract administration, if the risk represents a significant impact on project cost, schedule, or quality, it should be rated High. If the impact would be greater than 5% increase to the schedule or project cost, it is considered material, and the risk is Medium. If the risk is not significant or material, it is considered Low. 
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	With respect to each “lurking risk” identified, once the impact and probability have been analyzed and determined, we can use a Risk Rating Chart to rate the risks as High, Medium, or Low.

What you do with the risk you have identified is determine if the Probability is High, Medium or Low. Then determine if the Impact is High, Medium or Low. Where the Probability column and the Impact row intersect, you will find the rating for the risk.

(As you go through this next section, use the pointer to show on the slide how the boxes intersect.)

For instance, lets say the probability of a particular risk occurring is Medium, and the impact of that risk is low. Where the Probability column and the Impact row meet is in a box marked “Low”. So the Risk Rating for that risk is Low. On the other hand, if you have identified a risk that is of Medium probability, but High impact, the intersection is a box marked High. So the Risk Rating for that risk is High. 

Going through this exercise will help you determine specifically which risks to focus your attention on. The TA requires the Project Manager develop RMPs to mitigate, lessen, or even eliminate the risk for all High and Medium risks identified. 
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	OK then, let’s take a look at a Risk Management Plan developed by a family planning to sail from Ft Lauderdale, Florida to Rome, Italy.

(click) The risks are listed in the left-hand column. Then the probability and impact ratings have been inserted next to each risk in the middle columns.

And finally, the plans for addressing the identified risks are in the right-hand column. So let’s go over these.

(click) The first risk identified is a possible hurricane. The family thought the probability of this was low, but if it happened, the impact would be high. 

Now if we go back to the chart on the previous slide (go back to that slide), we see that would make the possibility of a hurricane a “medium” risk. 

OK, to address our hurricane – a medium risk – we need to develop a contingency or mitigation plan.

QUESTION: So what do you think the plan should be to address this risk? 

Great answers!! Here’s what the family came up with:

(click)

Let’s quickly go through the rest now (in the same way, clicking after each. The last two will come up at the same time in their entirety).
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	Remember a risk is the chance of something going wrong that could prevent successful project completion.

From a contracting perspective what sorts of events could jeopardize the contract? How about the contractor going belly up? How about unauthorized changes to the contract? Would those be problematic? (rhetorical questions)
By developing an RMP, you can plan ahead for the actual risk, and know exactly what to do if it occurs. The plan will: 

· Identify potential risks in advance – long before they happen

· Include action plans that are established well in advance of the risk occurring

If and when the potential risk actually occurs, there is no need to panic. Trust your training and trust your plan. Then follow it. 

(click)

Just the act of planning ahead diminishes the impact of the risk. If the risk never occurs, then it’s no big deal. But if it does, you’ll know exactly what to do.
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	OK, so now that we’re well versed on the nuances of an RMP, let’s try another exercise.

But first, let’s first break up into groups of 5 to 6 again. So beginning here (choose someone to begin with), count off around the room. Next, designate places in the room where you want the groups to congregate.
Each team should identify a scribe and a spokesperson.

Now, please go to the Tab that is labeled Exercise 2. There you’ll find the Exercise 2 instructions and a hardcopy Risk Management Plan (a copy of this is also included behind Tab K in your workbooks). Find a soft copy of the plan on your PCs by following the instructions on the screen. Once you’ve opened that document up, take a minute to read the Exercise 2 Instructions, and then your scribe can use it to record the potential risks and mitigation plans you come up with.

Take 17 minutes and 43 seconds to complete the exercise. Then we’ll ask the spokesperson for each team to share with the class what their individual team came up with.
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	Lots of 

?’s

	(returning from the exercise)...

OK, your 17 minutes and 43 seconds are up. Let’s talk about what you came up with. Which team wants to go first?

For the first risk listed, how did you rate the probability and impact? Based on that, how was this risk rated, and what plan did you come up with to mitigate the risk?

(to the class): Do the other teams agree with this assessment and plan?

How about the 2nd item?

Which team wants to volunteer to share additional risks they came up with? 

Which team would like to go next and share the additional risks they came up with?
(continue that process until all teams have reported)

Did you find the form useful in developing your plans? What changes could be made to improve it?

(Annotate suggested changes for consideration for inclusion in future classes.)
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	It’s almost time to talk about managing changes to the contract, but first let’s just review.
The Risk Management Plan we’ve presented to you is a very simplified model. There are many nuances to risk management that we didn’t go into here; just know they exist, and there is a whole industry devoted to identifying and managing risks. 
Also, for major IT projects, the Technology Agency uses a slightly different model than we introduced to you in this class. It uses the same concepts; it’s just a little more complex. You can find much more on this topic on their website.
QUESTION: Are there any questions about Risk Management before we move on?

(click)

OK then, let’s do it.
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	Oh boy is this segment ever going to be fun! We’re going to talk now a little bit about those inevitable changes that will occur during the contract period.

For those that are “well seasoned”, we’ll address the “old school” approach, as contrasted with the “new school” approach for the rookies in the class.

We’ll learn how to identify the different types of changes, and that old nemesis, scope creep. Also, everything you ever wanted to know about fiduciary responsibility when changes occur, and how to process the paperwork to incorporate changes into the contract.

And, finally, we’ll close with another short exercise.
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	Lets begin by contrasting the old school way of doing things with the new school way. 

Back “in the day”, it used to be that contract changes simply were not permitted. Change a contract you say? HaHaHa. Yeah, right; nope, nada, don’t wanna do it. Not too realistic, right? After all, changes aren’t necessarily always bad, are they? What about those that might be of benefit to the State? (rhetorical questions)
Well in today’s world, we want to be just a bit more pragmatic and professional about how we approach changes. Because they will occur, so we might as well approach them as a part of the normal course of doing business – at least on complex IT projects.

And as Mr. Madgett said so succinctly: “Acknowledging the possibility of changes sets the state for dealing in good faith.”

Paragraph 41 of the IT General Provisions provides that “The parties shall deal in good faith and attempt to resolve potential disputes informally.”

Besides, ignoring changes won’t make them go away, right? (rhetorical question)
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	So why do we find ourselves in the position of having to make a change to our contract that – given all that planning and conducting the RFP, and the evaluation process, and so on – took so darned long to complete, maybe even years? (rhetorical question)

Well, there are lots of possible reasons, not the least of which are the following: (click)
· New laws have been passed

· Planned contractual options/price changes

· Technological improvements – maybe things never before possible become possible

· Delivery needs to be accelerated

There are a myriad of other reasons – I’m sure you can each think of some. QUESTION: Anybody want to volunteer some other reasons?

Here are a few more: (click)

· Maybe someone put in an employee suggestion, and as a result, your department “found a better way”

· Maybe its taken so long to implement that the business requirements have just evolved

Or......(oh no!) what if we just messed up ... and now realize the design and deliverables do not fully meet the defined need and will need to be re-worked? (rhetorical question)
The message is this -- regardless of the reason, you’ll need to understand the types of changes that can occur, and “plan ahead” for them (remember those risk management plans). 
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	There are three primary types of changes that may occur during the life of the contract. Specifically:

(click) Administrative changes, some of which may not even require a contract amendment

(click) Material or substantive changes that have a direct impact on cost, schedule, the deliverables, or the very scope of the contract

(click) Finally, constructive changes – more on that in a few minutes

(click)

Regardless of the reason for change, or the type of change, there is one thing about change that we all need to remember – 

“Change is inevitable – except (of course) from a vending machine”
Robert C. Gallagher (author)
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	QUESTION: Who can explain to the class what the word “novation” means in relation to contracting? 

Answer: It is a term used in contract law to describe the act of replacing a party to a contract with a new party. We usually see novations when a company buys out the contractor, in which case the new company – which the contractor is now a part of -- assumes the obligations of the original contractor. This is entirely different from a name change that any company can choose to do (without being bought out).  

QUESTION: How about “assignment”? Anybody want to take a stab at explaining what an assignment is, again, in relation to contracting?

Answer: Again, it is a term used in contract law to describe the transfer of rights or benefits from one party to another, but not the transfer of obligations. Assignments are addressed in Paragraph 9 of the IT General Provisions, where it states “This Contract shall not be assignable by the Contractor in whole or in part without the written consent of the State.”

The State cannot unreasonably withhold its approval, and the required “written consent” comes in the form of a contract amendment. 

The State will not consent to the transfer of obligations from one party to another. What we mostly see are the transfer of payments to a third party that the contractor used to finance the project.

Other administrative-type changes could include: unanticipated tasks, name or address changes, changes in personnel assigned to the contract, correction of typos. 
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The 10% is no longer automatic. DOF questioned the amount. Now depts. Have to articulate the reasons for such a set-aside, and justify the amount. 

	
	Unanticipated tasks are something that the contract already provides for.

(click) In the State Model IT Personal Services Special Provisions, unanticipated tasks are identified as: “additional work...wholly unanticipated and is not specified in the Statement of Work, but which in the opinion of both parties is necessary to the successful accomplishment of the general scope of work outlined...”

(click)

Usually a small percentage of the value of the contract (used to automatically be set at 10%) is set aside in the contract for this type of work; however a written and signed Work Authorization is required to incorporate the work into the contract. Since the money is already part of the contract, once the Work Authorization is signed by the parties, it can be incorporated into the contract without an amendment. 

Keep track to be sure the work done under a Work Authorization is completed and be sure to track the amount of money spent under the amount set aside for unanticipated tasks.

Use Exhibit A to the State Model IT Personal Services Special Provisions as a template for the work authorizations. A copy is included behind Tab J in the workbooks.
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	Findlaw.com defines “material” as follows: “being of real importance or consequence; being an essential component. Elsewhere it is defined as “pertinent or essential”.

“Substantive” is “essential, the real or essential part or element of anything”.
So clearly a substantive or material change to the contract would be a deviation from the terms and conditions, and significantly affect “delivery, quantity or quality of goods/services to be provided by the contractor, amount paid to the contractor, or the cost to the State.” 

QUESTION: Sound familiar? Who recognizes that terminology?

Answer: Hint: Recall how Section II of the RFP defined material deviations? (rhetorical question)
A substantive change is a material change that will always require a contract amendment.
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	This is a topic we don’t talk about much. And no, it’s not a term that applies only to construction contracts. (
QUESTION: Anybody want to help me define “constructive” for the class, in the context of changes to the contract?

Answer: Constructive – in this context (changes to the contract) – refers to “an act or condition not directly expressed but inferred from other acts or conditions”.

Within the context of State contracting, constructive changes typically result from the actions or inactions of the State. The State’s action or inaction has significantly affected “delivery, quantity or quality of goods/services to be provided by the contractor, amount paid to the contractor, or the cost to the State.” 

So constructive change is material change, right? (rhetorical question)

Now you’re probably wondering what could the State do that would be considered a constructive change, right? Or how could something the State doesn’t do be considered a constructive change? (rhetorical questions)
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	What if our specs are defective? If the contractor follows the specifications but the performance results the State asked for cannot be achieved, and if the contractor incurred additional cost because of the defective specifications, the State may be held liable by the courts for additional charges under the constructive change doctrine. (click)
(The following are all rhetorical questions.)  
How about if we ask the contractor to complete some tasks sooner than the contract calls for?

(click)
Or, what if we withhold vital information the contractor needs to do the job? What if we refuse to approve work-in-progress that meets the requirements of the contract? 

What if we refuse to approve work-in-progress that meets our specifications? 

These are all examples of “constructive” change.

So the State’s action or inaction – the constructive change – has resulted in a material change to the terms and conditions of the contract necessitating a contract amendment.
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	In the context of changes, let’s take a few minutes to talk about that insidious Scope Creep. QUESTION: So, who can define “scope”?  Answer: How about “the range covered by an activity, subject, or topic.”

(click) With respect to State IT contracting, it includes: 1) the objectives of the project; 2) the work that will be done to accomplish those objectives; and 3) what is included, and by exclusion, what is not included. Something you can put your arms around, right? (rhetorical question)
Insidious means something that develops gradually and becomes well established before it becomes apparent. So, like our little snail buddy here sneaks out at night, insidiously nipping off the tender shoots of our plants and flowers until half the garden has been destroyed and we figure out what’s up, “scope creep” can sneak up on us too. Those minor changes build and build, layer-upon-layer until collectively, they have changed the original purpose – the very scope -- of the project. Sometimes the PM doesn’t even realize what is going on until it’s too late. That how insidious scope creep can be.

So, what does Scope Creep look like?  (rhetorical question)
No, it doesn’t look like a snail! It looks like this. (Click and read each bullet on the slide under “What is Scope Creep?” Sound familiar? They should. These are the elements of material change that will require a contract amendment.

(click) But take care to watch out for that snail – it could quickly morph into a galloping steed...
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	So it starts with one small change. No big deal, right? (rhetorical question) It’s just a tiny change that falls outside the scope of the original contract, like this little star outside the larger circle that encompasses scope.
(click)

And then there’s another small change. Again, no big deal all by itself, or even when combined with the first change.

(click)

But then there’s another change, and another, and another until...there are lots and lots of tiny little changes that alone don’t amount to much, but together, add up to significant change.

Notice the circle representing the scope of the original contract is much larger now, and no longer a circle.....

Get the picture? (rhetorical question)
Let’s say the end user first wants a single small change on one particular screen that is being developed. That single change requires a change to two other screens, and then those changes generate five more changes. And so it goes until collectively the small changes amount to a change in the very scope of the project itself and our scope circle now looks like a misshapen blob.
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	There are many reasons why scope creep occurs, not the least of which are the ones listed here on the slide.

(click) 

Maybe our specs weren’t delineated clearly; maybe the entire project from its inception has taken so long that the user’s needs have dramatically changed, or maybe the users just thought they were getting something else, something different than what is being delivered. 

(click)

Maybe it was as simple as designers or programmers just trying to improve or perfect their product (“just one more small change; no big deal”), or maybe they just wanted to keep the end users happy (and off their backs!).

Perhaps change has come about because of new laws or regulations, or maybe even newer state-of-the-art technologies.

Regardless of the causes, while it is important to understand them, the result is the same: material change to the contract must be addressed with a contract amendment and NCB.
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	The impact of scope creep can be tremendous, both in terms of the cost, but also in terms of the length of time it takes to deliver the services.

Precious time is spent:

· evaluating the impact of the change

· re-working the project schedule to accommodate the change

· re-doing some of the work already completed to accommodate the change

· extra testing not only for the new work, but also to see how the new work interfaces with work already completed

· preparing and obtaining approval of the NCB

· preparing and obtaining approval of the Contract Amendment

Along with scope creep comes a change in project focus, and some of the most important work must be delayed to accommodate the changes. There will be additional costs and the quality of the finished project may be adversely affected as scope changes can lead to “quick fixes” that affect quality.

Scope change will Delay the completion of the project, the benefits of the project, and – for some projects – a new or increased revenue stream to the State.

Scope creep is viewed as one of the main reasons IT projects fail.
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	OK, back to the topic – Managing Changes. Remember when we talked about Project Management? One of the tools we discussed was the Change Management Plan. Now is the time to rely on that plan and the processes delineated in it. This is one good reason why you need to make sure contract amendment processes are included in the Change Management Plan.

Following the processes set forth in the plan, first obtain an estimate of the cost, and the proposed changes to the schedule and work already in progress. 

Next, analyze the impact of the proposed changes against the schedule, the cost and the work in progress. Make sure you fully understand the impact, because the contract amendment will have to incorporate not only the changes themselves, but downstream changes to the schedule, work already in progress, and deliverables as well.

Negotiate with the contractor in good faith – be sure there is “consideration” for all changes agreed to. Also, make sure any new (or changed) deliverables have been identified, as well as acceptance criteria.

Make sure the PM has the TA’s approval of the Special Project Report (SPR) for the changes.

Finally prepare the Std. 821, NCB, and contract amendment, and send to DGS for approval. Once DGS has approved the amendment, you can authorize the contractor to begin the changed work.
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	A “fiduciary” is “one who must exercise a high standard of care in managing another’s money or property”

In the context of California State government contracting, a fiduciary owes an obligation to the taxpayers (it’s their money we’re spending, right?) to carry out their responsibilities with the utmost degree of good faith, honesty, integrity, and loyalty in the best interests of the State of California. 

QUESTION: What do those words bring to mind?

Answer: They are words that might also fit within the definition of “ethics”.

As a fiduciary, each of you is obligated to assure taxpayer funds are spent wisely and safeguard the resources of your department and the State. 

This obligation makes it incumbent on you to minimize the impact of any contract changes that affect delivery, quantity, quality, amount paid, or the overall cost to the State. 

So, as you are negotiating in good faith with the contractor, always keep this extraordinary responsibility in mind.
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	Within the context of contract changes, as a contracting professional and fiduciary, it is your job to be sure that:

· All changes have been approved in writing pursuant to the Change Management Plan for the project 

· The impact of each change has been evaluated against the SOW, the schedule, costs, and work-in-progress

· All new or changed deliverables and acceptance criteria have been identified

· As you are negotiating in good faith with the contractor, you always keep your fiduciary responsibility in mind and obtain the very best deal for the State

· The contractor’s change proposal is obtained in writing, signed by the contractor

· Special care is taken to assure there is “consideration” for the changes
· Finally, remember, “gifts” of State funds are prohibited by the California State Constitution.

QUESTION: Why am I mentioning “gift of State funds” here? Anybody want to take a stab at that?

Answer: I’m assuming you will be paying the contractor for additional work. That is the contractor’s consideration. But the State’s? Without reciprocal value in return, the State would essentially be “gifting” the contractor that additional money. So be sure the consideration you are paying the contractor matches the value of the services you are receiving in return. Consult with Legal Counsel on this important issue.
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	Now would be a good time to revisit the elements of a legal contract.

QUESTION:  Thinking way, way back to the very first class in the BACP series, who can recall the basic elements needed for all contracts?

Answer: Thank you for all that feedback. So let’s review those in the context of a State IT contract

All legal contracts contain the following elements:

1st – (click) An Offer -- the contractor’s signed proposal to the State

2nd – (click) Acceptance – the signed Std purchase doc

3rd – (click) Consideration -- the money the State will pay for the goods and services provided

PLUS, here are a few contract law basics:

4th – (click) Legal purpose -- the funds are in the Budget Act, chaptered into law annually. Additionally, the Department of Finance and the Technology Agency have approved the expenditure and the project. Plus we’re not asking the contractor to break any laws.

5th – (click) Authorized parties – State department directors are authorized to bind their departments. DGS is authorized under PCC 12100 to approve IT contracts.

6th – (click) Finally, from the SCM (Vol 1, Section 2.05), the elements of a contract also include the contract term, and the scope of the contract. The term will appear on the purchase document, and the scope will be set forth in the SOW.

So, with this, we’ve got all the elements of a contract covered.
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	Now let’s focus a minute on consideration, which is the “exchange of something of value between the parties to a contract (California Acquisition Glossary).”

What if I promise to sell you my car, and you promise to buy it, but you don’t promise to give me anything to seal that promise? If I break my promise and decide to keep my car, you can’t take me to court and force me sell it to you. Why? We didn’t have a legally binding contract because you didn’t give me any consideration for your promise to buy the car.

On the other hand, if I promise to sell you my car and you give me a $100 deposit, then I change my mind and keep the car, if I don’t return your deposit, you can take me to court to recover it. 

Simple enough? (rhetorical question)
Now how about a contract amendment for an extension of time to complete the work? Does the contractor just need more time to do the work he already promised to do in the amount of time allocated? If we make this concession, what do we get in return? Without consideration, we would be essentially be “gifting” the contractor State funds, because the State is entitled to something of value – consideration -- for our concession. Without that, we don’t have a valid contract or contract amendment. 

So be sure your contract amendments include consideration. If you’re unsure about consideration as you are negotiating the terms of a contract amendment, be sure to check in with legal counsel to assure it is provided for.
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	Amendments are contracts too. Because of that, they must include the elements for a legal contract that we just reviewed – offer, acceptance, consideration, legal purpose, authorized parties, term and scope.

You’re probably wondering about the “offer”. The proposal submitted by the contractor in response to your RFP may no longer be considered an offer for the amendment. That makes it incumbent on you to obtain from the Contractor a signed proposal for the new or changed work to be performed. State acceptance of that proposal will be the contract amendment.

The amendment will require also the same levels of approval as the original contract.

And amendments cannot be used to circumvent the competitive bidding process. They are subject to the same requirements for competition as the original contract was. If competition isn’t possible, an NCB is required.

Also, the amendment should be within the scope of what was provided in the original solicitation. 

QUESTION: Why should it be within scope? 

Answer:  When we amend a contract that was the result of a competition, then we have changed the terms – or the scope -- of the original RFP. Had our original RFP included those changed terms, the competition may have resulted in a different outcome and maybe even a different bidder winning the contract. 
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	Consider this: In our RFP we asked for 10 expensive high speed, high volume printers, and then contracted to purchase those printers and have them installed. By amendment we now want to add 50 PC workstations. (click)
QUESTION: Is this within the scope of the original contract?

Answer: No! (click) To permit such a change without competition would go against the fundamental concept of fair competition for all bidders. Had we included those 50 PC workstations in our RFP, we might have had other bidders offering different solutions, or the bidders we had may have offered even better prices. 

(click) On the other hand, had our original contract included the 10 high speed printers and an option to purchase up to 50 PC workstations then our contract amendment – without competition – is appropriate. 

(click) Because it does not provide the contractor any advantage over other bidders since they already competed for (and lost) the contract that included that option.

Get the idea? (rhetorical question)
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	QUESTION: By a show of hands, how many are familiar with the NCB process?

We used to call this the “Sole Source” process, but following former Governor Gray Davis’s 5/20/02 Executive Order 

D-55-02, and DGS’s 5/28/02 Management Memo 02-12, we began to call these transactions non-competitively bid contracts or as we call them today NCB’s. MM 02-12 (and later, MM 02-19) effectively changed this terminology, but also changed the rules governing these transactions.

OK, with that history, now what do you need to know about today’s processes? (rhetorical question) 

· Here on the slide is the website for the NCB form (a copy also behind Tab L)
· An NCB is required for contracts and contract amendments that are not competitively bid
· The NCB form must be signed by your Department Director and Agency Secretary, or – if you are not in a State agency – by the highest ranking official in your organization
· The NCB form must be approved by DGS, and you have to answer all questions. If your explanation exceeds the space provided, attach additional pages
· (click) Be sure to wait for DGS approval before instructing the contractor to begin the work
Finally, check out Section 3.09 of the SCM Vol. 1 (which has been reprinted and included behind Tab M in the workbooks). It’s got some especially useful tips that will help in composing and processing contract amendments. 
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	Be sure to include the Std 821 with your NCB when it is transmitted to DGS for approval.

Make sure all of the dates and the dollars on both the 821 and the NCB (and the contract amendment or purchase document if you included that) are consistent and match. And make sure the $$ add up! Is there anything more embarrassing than DGS asking you to explain a mathematical error? (rhetorical question)
The very first question (A.1.) on the NCB form asks is: “Why is the acquisition restricted to this good/service/

supplier.” Then there is a brief note below the question. That little note is a big clue. In your response, be sure to cite the specific reason in PCC 12102(a) that applies to your situation, either

“(1) the goods and services proposed for acquisition are the only goods and services which can meet the State's need, or

 (2) the goods and services are needed in cases of emergency where immediate acquisition is necessary for the protection of the public health, welfare, or safety.”

And explain in detail why and how that reason applies to your transaction. Make sure work has NOT commenced. If it has, oh boy, you are in for a battle! Approving retroactive amendments is actually against DGS internal policy, and it is highly likely DGS will deny the NCB, forcing the contractor to seek compensation through the Victims Compensation and Government Claims Board.

Finally, the NCB must include all required approvals (department, agency, and control agencies as appropriate).
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	OK, everybody ready for some fun and a short quiz on how much you’ve retained from this segment of the class? (rhetorical question)
Good, because here we go!

· Find the tab labeled “Exercise 3” in your Workbooks, but don’t open it yet. No fair peeking!! (
· Take 9 minutes and 43 seconds to do the exercise, but wait for my signal to begin

· In the ANS column (short for “answer”) enter the letter of the words or phrases from the Column B that match up with the words or phrases in Column A

· First one done wins the prize – assuming you are correct!! (
· Everybody ready? All right then, open the tab and ... ready, set, GO!

(when the first person finishes...)

OK now, time to go through the answers. Let’s walk through them one-by-one and make sure everything matches up.

(assuming the answers are correct...)

OK then, (name the person) wins the prize – woohoo – how about a round of applause?
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	What do you think – was that exercise a useful way to review the material in the Managing Changes segment?

In the next segment, we’ll be talking about managing contract disputes.

QUESTION: Any questions about Managing Changes before we move on?
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	This segment is crammed with information! We’re going to review:

· How to know when you’ve got a dispute

· How to resolve disputes

· Breach of contract (a BIG dispute)

· Remedies the State can exercise for contract breach

· Escalation procedures if the dispute cannot be solved at the lowest level

And finally, we’ll close with another exercise to test your knowledge

QUESTION: Anybody recognize this fellow?

Answer: Not sure of his name, but sadly if you plan on managing an IT contract, you’ll no doubt run into him at some point ...
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	What is the best dispute resolution advice we can give you? (click) Avoid the dispute to begin with! 

In 2000, a guy named Bruce F. Webster conducted a study for PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP [“Patterns in IT Litigation: Systems Failure (1976-2000)”]. In that study, he identified 6 specific patterns that led to litigation. A commonality between patterns was a lack of focus on specificity. (click)
Specificity regarding the functionality of the requirements, compatibility issues, useful life, and acceptable levels of defects. Requirements were especially important. Mr. Webster noted that they should be written in such a way that they are and remain clear and stable throughout the contract, and that they are “constrained”. So what do we mean by “constrained”? (rhetorical question)

Constrain would be to “limit or restrict somebody or something”. Taking that to our requirements, it means they should be written in such a way that they are clear and not open to interpretation; something you can wrap your arms around if you will.

Also, the terminology used in your requirements and the SOW must be clearly defined in writing in the contract. Remember as you do this, that terms used in the General and Special Provisions are already defined, so don’t go there. Just be sure to clearly define any IT verbiage or jargon, along with all acronyms used. Mr. Webster’s research revealed that often the courts view the words used routinely in IT contracts as “being too vague or subjective without express, written definitions of the terms.” So, these definitions may prove to be key if there is ever litigation. 
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	QUESTION: Who can define the word “dispute”?

Answer: OK, good answers! In the California Acquisition Glossary it is defined as “a difference of contract interpretation between the State and the contractor or asserting a right to contract performance by one party against the other.”

Given that definition, it should be easy to recognize disputes when they occur, right? (rhetorical question)
Let’s talk about an easy one. (click) Delivery. If the contract calls for delivery by a specified date and the contractor does not deliver, clearly we’ve got an issue. 

(click) What about a disagreement about the specifics of software design the contractor is working on? 

(click) How about deliverables that fail to meet the acceptance criteria incorporated into the contract? Perhaps a much more serious problem.

(click) How about if the contractor wants more time or money or both? 

One thing is clear – (click) a contract dispute is a lack of agreement between the parties to the contract. 
Paragraph 41 of the IT General Provisions provides that “The parties shall deal in good faith and attempt to resolve potential disputes informally.” Before you take any action whatsoever, make sure that disagreement is a real problem and not just poor communication.

 (click) Unless you’ve got just a simple disagreement that is resolved quickly, most contractual disputes involve breach of contract.
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	So that computer the contractor delivered as part of your new system just fried itself. Bad karma, right? (rhetorical question)
Maybe, but it might also be a breach of contract. 

It could be just a warranty problem. If that’s the case, it won’t be a dispute if the contractor fixes the problem. 

But if the contractor can’t fix the problem, or – worse yet -- refuses to fix the problem, it’s most likely a breach of contract.

In this segment we’re going to talk about different types of contract breaches, and remedies the State can pursue in the face of such breaches.
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	A “failure to maintain something: a failure to obey, keep, or preserve something such as a law, trust, or promise” is considered a “breach”.
A contract is a promise, right? From the California Acquisition Glossary (included in the IACP5 Workbook “Reference” section), a “breach of contract” is a “violation of a contractual obligation either by failure, without legal reason, to comply with the terms of the contract or interference with another party’s performance”. 

The common element in each of these seems to be “failure to perform”.

It’s easy to fall into the trap of thinking that only the contractor can breach the contract. But remember, the contract is a two-party agreement, and the State also has certain responsibilities and obligations under the contract.  

Breach is a two-way street. Not only can the contractor breach the contract, but the State can as well, and its part of your responsibility as Contract Administrator to do whatever you can to prevent that from happening. Remember our discussions about constructive change? (rhetorical question)

NEXT SLIDE


	Module 6 -- Contract Administration

...5. Managing Contract Disputes
Types of Breach



	Slide 96
(Exception --

School for the deaf?)

?
	There are many types of contract breach, but for the purposes of this class we’re going to discuss the following: First, a “minor breach” or an “immaterial breach” is one where legally the aggrieved party is not entitled to collect anything more than the actual amount of their damages. 

An example might be a contract for blue PCs, and the contractor delivers, instead, green PCs. Since the PCs are identical in every way except the color, while this is probably a minor breach, in most cases, there are no damages to recover (there are exceptions of course).

QUESTION: A “material breach” (...“Houston, we’ve got a problem”), on the other hand, is one that affects -- what? 
Answer: Again, we are back at the definition of the word “material” -- a breach that has a direct impact on delivery, quantity or quality of goods/services to be provided by the contractor, amount paid to the contractor, or the cost to the State. With material breaches, legally the aggrieved party can generally recover the cost of correcting the breach (a cover purchase). 

“Anticipatory breach” is a situation where it is known that one party will not perform. For instance, notwithstanding the reason, if the contractor tells the State it cannot deliver, the State may then claim an anticipatory breach.

“Fundamental breach” is one so significant that it permits the aggrieved party to terminate performance of the contract, and sue for damages. 
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	OK, so the dispute cannot be avoided. Don’t let it prevent the successful performance of the contract. Here are a few tips resolving disputes quickly and equitably:
(click) Know the contract like?... (click) the back of your hand 
(click) Gather and document all the facts. Do the proper forensics.

(click) Always try to resolve the dispute at the lowest possible level. Owning the problem personally will empower you to work harder towards resolution.

(click) Keep talking to each other. I can’t emphasize that enough. When the communications break down, it becomes exponentially more difficult to resolve the dispute. 

(click) Look for solutions, not scapegoats. Blaming isn’t going to solve the problem, and doesn’t move the situation towards resolution. Instead of blaming, try to understand what caused the dispute so that you can make sure it doesn’t occur again. Instead, look for solutions to the problem instead of scapegoats.

(click) Keep emotion at bay. I know, easier said than done, but try to keep that in mind. Keeping emotion out and, instead, behaving in a professional, business-like manner will serve you better in resolving the issue.

(click) ALWAYS make it a practice to consult with Legal Counsel. 
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	So now let’s spend some time discussing the remedies available to the State for breach of contract and make sure we understand each of them.

QUESTION: So what’s a “remedy”? Anybody?

ANSWER: A remedy is “the legal means to recover a right or to prevent or obtain redress for a wrong”. 

The State’s IT contracts provide for the following remedies:

· Liquidated Damages -- paragraph 1, Purchase Special Provisions 

· Cure notices -- General Provisions (GP) para. 23.c)

· Stop work -- GP para. 42

· Termination -- GP para. 21-23

· Cover purchases -- GP, para. 23)

In addition, the State has the right to call the bond for those contracts where the contractor has furnished a bond or other security to guarantee its performance.

Finally, if all else fails, litigation.

Perhaps the most important thing you need to take away from this discussion is the notion that failure to exercise the remedies in the contract may put the State in an awkward position legally, especially if the dispute ever finds its way into the court system. Because the lack of action could infer acceptance of the situation. If you find yourself in a position where remedies should be exercised, then exercise them. Don’t put the State at risk should litigation ensue.
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	Money for nothing......seriously. Reminds me of that old Dire Straits song with the lyrics ... “money for nothin’; chicks for free.” 

LDs are set forth in the contract to establish a predetermined sum(s) that the contractor will pay if it fails to deliver on time, and the (daily) amount is included in the Statement of Work. So the parties agree to these amounts at the time of contract formation.

LDs must be a reasonable estimate of the actual losses that would be experienced in the event of a delay. They must be considered damages and not penalties. If the LDs are construed by the courts as a penalty, they may not be recoverable. LDs cannot be assessed if the contractor could not deliver because of causes beyond their control such as earthquake or war etc. (this protection is set forth in the IT GP’s at paragraph 24 entitled “Force Majeure”), or if the contractor has substantially completed the work.

Before LD’s are assessed, the contractor must first be notified in writing, and then the LDs may be deducted from outstanding invoices.

To determine what the LDs in your contract should be, consider using the “Liquidated Damages” worksheet included behind Tab N in the Workbooks. This is a re-do of a really old form that was used back in the 80’s and 90’s, and it still works today. Everyone find that document now so we can briefly go through its components.

(after everyone has located the document) Notice all of the damages considered are potential damages that could occur should the contractor be late. Use only the damages you would actually incur, and support all calculations with appropriate back-up material. The 2nd worksheet behind tab N is newly-reworked in Excel format, and it will automatically add up all your totals. A copy of that will be accessible on the class website.
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	A cure notice (or series of notices) informs the contractor that the State considers the contractor’s failure to perform or failure to make progress a condition that is endangering performance of the contract. 

The purpose of a cure notice is to provide the contractor time to cure the alleged problem. Depending on the facts surrounding the default, you may or may not attempt to ever assess liquidated damages and you may or may not ever issue a stop work order. 

The cure notice includes the failures that generated the notice and advises the contractor what actions it must take to remedy the situation, and within what specific timeframe. 

In addition, the notice advises the contractor of the consequences of failure to perform – e.g. contract termination for default and the possibility of owing the State for any “costs to cover” that exceed the original amount of the contract. More on that later.

Although cure notices may be your effort at attempting to resolve the contractor’s failures at the lowest level, they are almost always a precursor to a termination for default, and always very serious business – never send one without first consulting with legal counsel.
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	If the contractor defaults on the contract, the department may wish to consider issuing a written Stop Work Order (SWO) to the contractor.

Paragraph 42 in the IT General Provisions addresses Stop Work. It provides the State the right to issue a written Stop Work Order to the contractor at any time during the contract period. The SWO can cover any or all of the work the contractor is performing, and can extend for up to 90 days after the SWO is delivered.

During the 90 day period (unless that period has been extended by agreement of the parties), the State must either cancel the SWO, or terminate the work covered by the SWO.

If the State cancels the SWO, then it must make an adjustment to the contractor’s delivery schedule, the contract price, or possibly even both – by contract amendment. 

A written SWO should include:

· A description of the work to be suspended

· An explanation of the reason(s) for the SWO

· The conditions under which the cited work will be permitted to resume

A Stop Work Order is always very serious business, and you should never issue one without first consulting with legal counsel.
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	OK, we’ve assessed LD’s numerous times, we’ve even issued a stop work order and cure notice, and still the contractor was unable to come up with an acceptable corrective action plan. We are at out wits end, and nothing seems to be working. So we need to terminate the contract.

Lets get into some more specifics about the three types of terminations addressed in the State’s IT contracts:

Termination for Non-appropriation of funds

Termination for Convenience

Termination for Default

Even though we are moving towards termination for default in this discussion, let’s spend just a minute or two talking about the other two reasons the State might terminate an IT contract.
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	Termination for Non-Appropriation of Funds is addressed in paragraph 21 of the IT General Provisions. The language provides that, if the contract period extends into future fiscal years, and if the Legislature fails to appropriate the funds necessary to continue the contract, the State may terminate the contract.

This language also provides that the State will bear the cost of transporting the affected deliverables back to the contractor in substantially the same condition as they were originally delivered, subject to normal wear and tear. And the contractor agrees to take the deliverables back.

QUESTION: Anybody have any experience with this occurring?

The class developers remembered a situation where the former Health and Welfare Data Center (HWDC for short; now part of the Department of Technology Services) had to terminate a contract for informational kiosks that were installed throughout the Sacramento region for use by the general public. At the time, the Legislature specifically called out that contract as one they did not want to continue, and so the funding was cut. HWDC had to terminate the contract and return the equipment to the contractor. Not much fun, but it does sometimes occur.
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	Termination for Convenience of the State is addressed in paragraph 22 of the IT General Provisions. The language gives the State (but not the contractor) the option to terminate all or part of the contract if it is deemed to be in the State’s best interests. The language provides that the DGS Procurement Division Deputy Director (or designee) may exercise this option. 
(click)

Upon receipt of a notice of termination for convenience, the contractor must:

· Stop work as specified in the notice of termination

· Place no further subcontracts for materials, services, or facilities except as necessary to complete any continuing portion of the contract 

· Terminate all subcontracts that relate to the work terminated

· Settle all outstanding liabilities with subs 

(click)

In addition, the contractor and the State must agree on the amount to be paid by the State to the contractor for services already rendered. The language in the GPs sets forth the procedure to be followed if the parties do not agree.
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	Termination for Default is addressed in paragraph 23 of the IT General Provisions. 
Subject to the force majeure provisions of paragraph 24, the language gives the State (but again, not the contractor) the option to terminate all or part of the contract if the contractor fails to deliver on time, make progress, or fails to perform an obligation of the contract.

The failure(s) must constitute a material breach, and the State must have provided the contractor a reasonable opportunity to cure the problem (Stop Work and Cure). Failing such cure the State may terminate, and proceed with a “cover purchase” (more on that in a minute).

When all or part of a contract has been terminated for default, the State must still pay for completed and accepted deliverables, and the contractor must pass title or software license for paid items.
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	“Cover purchases” are referred to in the IT General Provisions paragraph 23. The “costs to cover” can be defined to be “any excess costs incurred in acquiring goods and services similar to those terminated for default.”
Cover purchases are made when the contractor defaults and the State terminates all or part of the contract. But the State still needs the goods and services, right? That need doesn’t go away simply because the contractor couldn’t perform.

So the State purchases the goods and services elsewhere, and does what it can to obtain the goods and services at the best possible price, and possibly even conducting a new competitive solicitation. In this way, it mitigates the impact of additional costs the contractor must bear...

(click) ...because the State will charge the “old” contractor the difference between the original contract price and the cost of the contract – aka the “cost to cover” -- with the “new” contractor (subject to GP paragraph 26 entitled “Limitation of Liability”).

There are a few options with respect to making a cover purchase, and they should be discussed in detail with legal counsel. One might involve returning to the original RFP and selecting the next bidder in line for award. Another option might be to conduct a new procurement. Legal Counsel will look out for the best interests of your department and the State, so rely on them for advice on how to proceed with a cover purchase.
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	Many State IT RFPs include a requirement that bidders submit a performance bond (or other instrument) that will act like a type of insurance policy to guarantee satisfactory performance by the contractor, should they win the bid. “Calling” a bond essentially means “cashing it in”.
If contractual remedies are being exercised by the State, the surety (the bond company) should be notified. Keeping the surety informed gives them the opportunity to work with the contractor, and assist it in meeting its contractual obligations to the State, as set forth in the agreement between the surety and the contractor. In fact, oftentimes, the surety may want to step in and actually replace the non-performing contractor -- with the State’s approval of course.

If, however, the surety fails to “save” the contractor, or the State does not agree to a replacement contractor the surety wants to substitute, then – as a means of mitigating its losses – the State may exercise its option to “call” the bond, or cash it in. Essentially the State makes a claim against the contractor which is then “covered” by its “insurance policy” with the surety.

Sometimes a battle with the surety ensues (when have you ever heard of an insurance company voluntarily making any kind of payment?), and if (when!) this occurs, then its time to call in the Attorney General’s office for assistance.
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	When all else fails, sue, right? Seriously, both parties to the contract have a right to sue the other. The contract sets the venue for any lawsuits in Sacramento County, Sacramento, California (IT GP’s para 6). Paragraph 6 also sets State of California law as the law that will govern any dispute. So it doesn’t matter if the contractor’s home office is in upstate New York or Wyoming, or Florida, the lawsuit will be governed by California’s laws. 

There are many reasons and motivations for lawsuits. What you need to know is that the Attorney General (AG) always represents the State in the Courts. While your legal counsel and DGS’s legal counsel will be involved, it is the lawyers at the AG’s Office that will speak for the State. At this point, the situation is really out of your hands, except possibly for potential “discovery” items (mostly documents or electronic files either side may need), or depositions (you may be asked to be deposed).

If a lawsuit is filed, work through your attorney and DGS legal counsel, both of whom will work with the AG’s office – at that point, you should not be communicating directly with the “other side”. 

QUESTION: Has anyone here ever been deposed?

(if someone answers affirmatively) Would you care to share with the class how that went?

Depositions can be scary, but they shouldn’t be. In the case of a deposition regarding a State contract, just rely on the advice of the State’s attorneys to guide you. 
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	So now you’ve done everything possible to resolve the dispute, and yet it remains. What next? (rhetorical question) 
(click)

The contractor’s default begins the process.

(click)
Failing efforts to resolve the issue at the lowest level, the PM notifies Contract Administrator of default.

(click)

The Contract Administrator issues a Stop Work Order calling for Corrective Action Plan (CAP), and sends a notice to the Surety (if any). The Contract Administrator should be prepared to brief the Department  Director about the situation.

(click)

At that point, the contractor can choose from 2 different paths – either submit a CAP, or appeal to the Department Director.

(click)

If the Department Director agrees with the contractor, or if the CAP is accepted, work resumes and presumably the issue is resolved.
(click)

If the Department Director denies the appeal, the contractor can appeal to the DGS Deputy Director Procurement Division. If they choose not to escalate their appeal, then the dispute is resolved and work resumes. 

(click)

The PD Deputy Director’s decision is the final administrative remedy. If the PD does not rule in favor of the contractor, then the (customer) department has a decision to make.
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	So here is a slightly different picture of the dispute escalation process that is set forth in Paragraph 41 of the IT General Provisions.

Remember, the parties should always try to resolve disputes at the lowest possible level – the PM. If the PM cannot resolve the issue, it is (click) escalated to the Contract Administrator who then issues a Stop Work Order calling for a Corrective Action Plan to “cure” the problem. At that point the DGS PD should be alerted as to what’s going on, as well as the Surety (bond company).

(click) The contract language then provides that “if the dispute persists”, the Contractor may appeal to the Department Director.

(click) Failing resolution by the Department Director, the Contractor may next appeal to the DGS PD Deputy Director. 

Within PD, staff will develop a chronology, analyze the situation and make a recommendation to the Deputy Director, who will decide the issue. At this point, it would be useful for you to provide any information to these staff that will help them prepare the chronology of events and analysis. Interestingly, the GP language provides that if the PD Deputy Director doesn’t render a decision w/in 90 days, it shall be “deemed a final decision adverse to Contractor’s contentions”. Interesting twist, no? (rhetorical question)

(click) If the Contractor doesn’t like the State’s final decision, it may decide to take the issue to the Court system for resolution. If that occurs, again it is the Attorney General’s Office that will represent the State’s interests. 
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	OK, so if DGS rules in favor of your department, your department then generally has three options, as follows:

· (click) It can negotiate with the contractor the necessary changes to the contract that will resolve the issue. Next, it will need to work with DGS PD to get the 821, the NCB and the contract amendment approved so work can resume.

· (click) It can terminate the contract for default

When the contract is terminated for default, generally the State would make a cover purchase, and then seek reimbursement for the “costs to cover”.  

· (click) It can terminate the contract for convenience

Termination for convenience is always an option, however, in a default situation it may not be the best option, as letting the contractor off the hook may be viewed by some as a “gift of State funds”. 

Terminations are serious matters that should always be discussed with legal counsel.
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	Before proceeding with any termination, many issues must be considered.

(click)

For instance, what stage is the contract in? Has work begun only recently, say within the past year, or is it in the last year of a 5-year contract? If the work has been substantially completed, even with a breach of contract, the State could be held liable for wrongful termination by the courts.

What are the anticipated costs of termination, such as litigation or re-procurement? Conversely, what benefits or savings could be gained by termination?

To what extent did the State contribute to the contractor’s default?

As you can see there are many issues to be considered when contemplating termination for any reason.

(click)

All of these issues must be explored in depth with Legal Counsel before any action is taken.
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	It’s time to play Disputes Jeopardy!! 
Divide class into 3 or 4 teams, instructing each team to pick a spokesperson for the team. This individual will be the one to buzz in and ask the Jeopardy question.

The rules are simple. One team goes first and gets to select the square (points & topic) they want to answer.  The square is then clicked for the answer. The first team to buzz in has a chance to provide the correct matching question. That team and the spokesperson have 5 seconds to confer and provide the correct question to match. If they guess wrong or cannot provide a question, the next team to buzz gets a chance. Teams will lose the answer points for wrong response and gain points for correct ones. If they cannot provide the correct matching question, the last team is offered the final chance to provide it. If that team declines, no points will be deducted from their score.

The team that provides the correct matching question gets the points for that square and also gets to select the next square. A team can “wager” up to twice their points total in the Daily Double square.

If no team can provide the correct matching question, then the Jeopardy “Host” (me!) will provide the correct matching question to all. The Jeopardy Host or the class assistant will tally the points earned by each team. At the end of the exercise, the team with the most points wins!

Everybody understand the rules? OK then, here we go.  

(Select the first team to answer and start the PowerPoint Solicitation Jeopardy exercise.)
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	Woo hoo! How fun was that?

We’ve finally reached the end of the contract period. The contractor has performed all that was expected, and has handed the system over to us. So now what?

Time to close out the contract!
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	QUESTION: By a show of hands, how many of you have worked for more than one department during your State service?

OK, for those of you that have, do you remember the HR people using a checklist when you left? DGS has such a form. In fact, there are 42 items listed on it, and the very first item refers to yet another checklist – who knows how many items are on that one? (rhetorical question)
QUESTION: Does the idea of a similar checklist for contract closeout sound like it might be useful?

Good, because that’s exactly what we’ve got for you! Behind Tab O you’ll find the Contract Closeout Checklist. Let’s go to that now, and review the items included.

· All products and services required to be performed by the contractor have been completed, delivered and accepted by the State. 

· All actions related to contract amendments have been completed

· Work performed under signed Work Authorizations has been completed

So that Work Breakdown Schedule managed all this time by the PM is complete. The work is all done!

· No claims or investigations are pending

· All State-furnished or -owned property has been returned, including such things as ID badges, building keys, laptop computers, what else?
· Outstanding subcontracting issues (if any) have been resolved
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	· If partial or complete termination was executed, all related activities have been completed, e.g. 

· Unpaid property has been returned to the contractor

· State has completed “cover purchase” as appropriate

· Contractor has reimbursed State for any excess costs to cover

· Any contract audit has been completed

· All required reports have been completed and filed, including reports to:

· The Legislature

· Technology Agency (PIER)

· Department of Finance

· Agencies of the federal government (as applicable)
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	· Outstanding Liquidated Damages have been deducted from outstanding invoices
· The final invoice has been received and paid

· All withholds have been paid

· All remaining funds have been accounted for:

· Re-allocated to long-term operational charges

· Re-allocated to recurring software licensing and/or maintenance charges, if any

· Disencumbered
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	· Financial instrument (e.g. bond) has been returned to the Surety (insurance company that issued the instrument)

· All State-owned assets have been tagged and inventoried

· Software licenses are all up-to-date

· Contracts for continuing software license fees and/or maintenance have been established 

· Contracts for continuing hardware maintenance have been established 
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	· Std 4 Contractor Evaluation completed (for IT consultant contracts only)

· Send negative reviews to DGS Legal

· The file documentation is complete. Remember to use the File Documentation Checklist/Index we introduced in IACP 5. We included another copy behind Tab P in the Workbooks.

· The file is ready to be archived. Again, recall what we learned in IACP 5, that the file must be retained for a minimum of 7 years from contract closeout date or the payment date of the last invoice, whichever is earlier.

QUESTION: Can anyone think of something we’ve missed? 
(note any suggestions from class for possible use in future modules, and possible addition to Tab O)
So then, we’re done, woo-hoo!

(click)

Let the celebration begin!!!
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	So that’s it then. With that, we have completed all of the segments of the class.

The purpose of this Module was to provide you with the tools and knowledge to effectively and successfully administer and manage an IT contract awarded after the conduct of a competitive solicitation process.
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	And, as a reminder, our Objectives were:

· Identify roles and responsibilities

· Develop a risk management plan

· Manage changes to the contract

· Manage a contract dispute

· Close out the contract

(click)

QUESTION: Did we clear all the questions on the Parking Board?

(click)

QUESTION: More importantly, did we accomplish our objectives?
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	QUESTION: OK, any last minute questions before we move on to the Quiz on Modules 4, 5, and 6?

So then everyone is ready to test your retained knowledge of IACP Modules 4, 5, and 6?
No? ... No! (incredulously)

Sure you are. ( Don’t worry we’re not going to grade the tests, and you will all get your certificates. The tests help us determine how effective our training is.
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	We will now take 15 minutes for a written, open book quiz covering subjects in Modules 4 through 6. Then we’ll spend a few minutes reviewing the answers.

Hand out copies of the hardcopy quiz to all class participants.

At the end of the class, we’ll collect the quizzes.  Again, we will keep them for review of training effectiveness.
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	(after the quiz is completed) 

OK, now let’s spend a few minutes going over the answers.

Using the answer sheet, go over the answers to each question aloud with the class. As you go, ask for the class to volunteer answers before you reveal the answer.

At the end, ask if anyone got all correct. If anyone did, reward them with a treat. 

If no one got everything right, ask how many got only 1 wrong, only 2 wrong, only 3 wrong and so forth until you find the person that got the fewest wrong answers. That person is the one that got the most right answers! Give that individual a treat.

Pass out copies of the answer sheets for the quiz.

QUESTION: Any other questions? (field all remaining questions)

OK then, having finished the Intermediate Acquisition Certificate Program, its time for ...
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	GRADUATION! Congratulations to all of you for completing the 6 modules that make up the IACP series of classes.

Open up the file (if you haven’t already) with the Pomp and Circumstance music and begin playing.

Then go through the graduation proceedings, awarding each participant their Certification.
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	As a final act for this Module, please take a few minutes and complete the Class Evaluation Form.  You can leave the evaluation form and your quizzes at the front of the room when you are done.

We hope you enjoyed this module along with all of the others in the Intermediate Acquisition Certification Program. Thank you all for your attendance and the commitment of time you made, congratulations again on your graduation, and have a safe trip home.

(End of class)
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